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Introduction

In September 1964, the Federal Bureau of Investigation launched a highly secretive and extralegal counterintelligence program, known as “COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE.”  This covert action program sought to “expose, disrupt and otherwise neutralize” Ku Klux Klan groups, whose violent vigilante activities had begun to alarm the nation, and with it, the national government.
  This article will assess that program’s effect on Klan groups in Mississippi, between 1964 and 1971, when the program was exposed. 
  In doing so, it will add an entirely new dimension to the question of how and why an important change in race relations came to one state in the American South during this period.  

A number of scholars have dealt with the question of how and why black demands for civil rights succeeded during this period.  Historian Michael J. Klarman, for one, has described how the Supreme Court’s Brown vs. Board of Education school desegregation decision spurred elected officials in the American South to defy federal authority and sanction suppression of civil rights demonstrations by police.  He argued that televised images of police brutality created a “wave of indignation” among “northern whites,” and that this northern constituency spurred Presidents Kennedy and Johnson to push through civil rights legislation, thereby bringing changes to race relations to the region.
  

Klarman’s thesis is provocative, but since he limited his explication to conflicts in Birmingham and Selma Alabama, its applicability to other civil rights issues, in other states, is open to question.  To explain change in Mississippi, for example, his thesis is not enough.  For here, national indignation focused less on desegregation marchers and police brutality, than Ku Klux Klan attacks against voting registration activists and black residents who sought to exercise the right to vote.  A comprehensive account of changed race relations in the American South, then, must also explain how and why vigilante violence abated during the 1960s.

Michal Belknap has provided one answer to this question.  A legal scholar, Belknap argued that white southern officials and local citizens, not federal legislators, were primarily responsible for suppressing vigilante violence in the region.  As Klansmen targeted civil rights activists with bombs, arson, assault, and murder during the early 1960s, he argued, Southern public officials began to view vigilantism as a serious problem.  By the middle of the decade, Belknap concluded, Southern juries began to prosecute and convict the Klan vigilantes whom, only a few years previously, had helped to maintain the white supremacist social order.
 

Belknap also pointed out, however, that the Justice Department provided evidence to state and federal prosecutors, for use in southern courtrooms.  This evidence, moreover, came from FBI intelligence operations.  Indeed, FBI agents and informants often provided crucial testimony on the witness stand.
  COINTELPRO White-Hate worked in tandem with FBI intelligence-gathering and prosecutions in the courts, but Belknap, who was primarily interested in explaining the legal and constitutional aspects of change, did not probe deeply into the actual effects of extralegal tactics.

The only historian to address COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE was Kenneth O’Reilly.  The thrust of his work, however, sought to answer the question of how and why the FBI refused to protect civil rights activists from police brutality and vigilante violence.
  O’Reilly compared COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE with the FBI’s other covert action programs that targeted civil rights and Black Nationalist organizations.  He characterized the former as a “limited war,” a “sideshow” to the real war against black aspirations.
  O’Reilly, policy analyst William Keller, and historian Richard Gid Powers, have discussed the origin of COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE, and described its orientation.
  Other observers have provided anecdotal accounts of operational tactics.
  Sociologist Evelyn Rich has provided the most concrete, if brief assessment, highlighting a few important COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE accomplishments in one chapter of her Ph.D. dissertation.
  The FBI’s official history of its “War on the Klan” in Mississippi and a number of informant memoirs, while illuminating, tell only part of the story.  They focus on the aggressive efforts of FBI agents and informants to solve Klan crimes, and bring the culprits to justice.
  Journalist Jack Nelson’s book, on the suppression of Anti-Semitic violence in Jackson Mississippi, during 1967-1968, also ignores COINTELPRO.

Of those scholars who address the question of COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE’s effect, David Chalmers, in history of the KKK, called the operations “successful.”
  Klan observers John George and Laird Wilcox judged COINTELPRO to be “probably the most significant factor” in the decline of Klan groups during the late 1960s.
  William Keller concluded that "the FBI worked against the Klan after 1964 with devastating efficiency," and that "there is no doubt as to the effectiveness of the [COINTELPRO] program in disrupting and disintegrating the Klan."
  None of these scholars, however, try to prove their assertions through a comprehensive analysis of COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE operation documents.  

To begin this process, I have chosen to trace systematically each documented covert operation used by the FBI against Klan groups and Klansmen in Mississippi, to assess their effects.  My research is based primarily upon the COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE file.
  I also use documents from the MIBURN file, an investigation of the murder of three civil rights activists in Neshoba County in June 1964, as well as FBI intelligence files I obtained through the Freedom of Information Act.
  Additional conclusions are drawn from white supremacist publications I acquired from a number of archival collections.
  

The COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE operation endeavored to expose and disrupt Klan activities, cause disillusionment, and create factional splits within Klan organizations.  It aimed to increase animosity and factional activities among Klansmen, and cause expulsions and defections from the Klans.
  A careful reading of these sources indicates that COINTELPRO-White Hate operations aggravated factionalism in Mississippi, contributing to the splintering of Mississippi’s Klan organizations.  They discredited high-ranking Klan officers, many of whom were purged or quit.  They brought about resignation, frustration and fear among rank and file Klan members, which, in turn, brought about drastic reductions in the membership rolls and the concurrent disbanding of most of the local Klan units in the state.  In combination with criminal prosecutions, this article concludes, COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE vitiated all of the KKK organizations that operated in Mississippi.  

COINTELPRO-White Hate, then, met its goal.  This success, however, also had an unintended consequence.  Once the remaining hard core Klansmen realized that they had failed to preserve white supremacy, they began to infuse Klan ideology with the revolutionary discourses of vociferous anti-Semitism and Christian Identity theology.
  Due to the success of the FBI’s anti-Klan effort, the racist right in Mississippi came to see the Federal Bureau of Investigation as one of their primary enemies.  During the 1970s, some Mississippi Klansmen would embrace neo-Nazism, Christian Identity, paramilitarization and anti-Federal government rhetoric.  They made alliances with racists of different ideological stripes, and joined the revolutionary “white power” movement.

The FBI versus Ku Klux Klan groups in Mississippi, 1964-1968.

Although Ku Klux Klan vigilantes had played an important role in thwarting Reconstruction, the Second KKK never prospered in Mississippi.  Indeed, between 1915 and 1944, Mississippi had the smallest Klan membership of any southern State.
  After World War II, and even after Brown, there remained little need for organized Klan activity in Mississippi, because the State government and the White Citizens’ Councils were able to prevent integration.
  According to Neil McMillan the Councils were “instrumental in creating” what James W. Silver called a ‘hyperorthodox social order’” during this period.
  Indeed, Mississippi managed to delay the integration of public schools until September 1964, when some public officials and the last remaining Councilors began to acquiesce in the face of threats to business development and the withdrawal of federal aid.
  Even after the Civil Rights Act and the creation of “freedom of choice” plans, the system merely changed from dejure to defacto segregation.  In 1968, Mississippi remained the most segregated of all Southern states.
  By the time that the Supreme Court ordered thirty Mississippi school districts to eliminate separate schools in October 1969, Klan violence had already declined significantly.

The school desegregation issue, moreover, was not the only issue that fostered a solid front of massive resistance and an increase in vigilante violence during the 1950s and early 1960s.  In Yazoo City, Vicksburg, Columbus, Natchez, Jackson and Amite County, Mississippi, during 1954, black activists who attempted to register blacks to vote received death threats.  In Belonzi, Mississippi, NAACP president Gus Courts was nearly killed by a shotgun blast, and NAACP activist Rev. George W. Lee was shot and killed.  Lamar Smith, a voting rights activist from Brookhaven, was shot and killed in front of the courthouse.
  

The most brutal type of violence, however, was reserved for blacks who violated the sexual code of white supremacist society.  Two men kidnapped 14 year old Emmett Till in August 1955, after he made a suggestive comment to a white woman.  They beat him beyond recognition before shooting him in the head, killing him.
  An all white jury acquitted them.  In 1959, a mob lynched Mack Charles Parker, accused of raping a white woman, in Poplarville Mississippi.  Concerned about the State’s image, moderate Governor James Coleman called in the FBI.  An aggressive FBI investigation ensured that State authorities would prevent mob-style lynching from occurring ever again.  Yet because FBI agents harassed and threatened suspected participants to wrest confessions, Mississippi press reports of “iron curtain tactics” became a useful electoral issue for Ross Barnett.
  To supplement Klarman’s backlash thesis, then, moderation became a lost cause in Mississippi because of an aggressive FBI lynching investigation as well as outrage at the Supreme Court’s desegregation ruling.


Until the mid-1960s, many Mississippi residents condoned or encouraged police brutality, as well as extra-legal vigilante violence, when employed against black activists.  Moreover, since all branches of the federal government were reluctant to assume responsibility for protecting civil rights workers, such violence accelerated even as massive resistance crumbled.
  Sixty-two incidents of racist violence took place in Mississippi between summer 1961 and the end of 1963.  In April 1960, Biloxi a white mob rioted in response to efforts to desegregate beaches in Biloxi.  After police withdrew, shootings, a firebombing and the murder of two black teenagers were perpetrated.
  Most outrageous, were the 1961 killing of voting rights activist Herbert Lee and a witness to that murder named Louis Allen, as well as the 1963 ambush-murder of NAACP field representative Medgar Evers.  Despite the fact that the FBI developed ballistic and fingerprint evidence in the Evers murder, Citizen Council activist Byron De La Beckwith’s trials resulted in hung juries.
  According to contemporary newspaper accounts, Beckwith’s jailers “treated him like a hero.” 
  Leading businessmen and professionals covered his trial expenses, and State Governor Ross Barnett gave him moral support.
  


With the integration of the University of Mississippi in 1962, however, the power of the Citizens’ Councils “deflated overnight.”
  Shortly afterward, Louisiana Klan leader J. D. Swenson organized an Original Knights unit in Natchez Mississippi.  Together with Louisiana Grand Dragon Royal V. Young, he appointed Douglas A. Byrd to the position of Grand Dragon of Mississippi.  One hundred fifty to three hundred Mississippi residents joined the Swenson-Young Klan group, but in December 1963, dissension over profits earned from the sale of Klan robes culminated in a factional split, and Swenson expelled Mississippi officers Douglas Byrd and E. L. McDaniel.
  That same month, Congress of Federated Organizations (COFO) organizer John Lewis declared that a coalition of civil rights groups intended to create a crisis the following summer, to register black voters, and force the federal government to respond to vigilante violence in Mississippi.  Politicians and journalists reacted furiously, raising the specter of Communist agitators and subversives.   As the state legislature introduced bills outlawing picketing, leaflet distribution, freedom schools, and other anti-Summer Project legislation, civil rights organizations, prominent academicians and law professors urged the President to provide protection.  The FBI investigated civil rights groups, finding no evidence of communist infiltration.  Justice Department reacted quietly, persuading influential journalists to write stories about the impending crisis, contacting state politicians, and borrowing agents from the Organized Crime Unit to collect intelligence.
   

Two months later, two hundred former members of the Original Knights met at Brookhaven Mississippi, and formed the White Knights of the Ku Klux Klan of Mississippi.
  In the context of Beckwith’s trial, growing support for a Civil Rights Bill in Washington, as well as the imminent probability that the federal courts would force Mississippi to desegregate its publics, more than 5000 Mississippi residents signed up with the organization over the next four months.  Frustrated at the inability of the Citizens Councils to drive COFO out of Mississippi, some of the more militant segregationists embraced vigilantism as the only remaining bulwark that might preserve white supremacy.
  

On January 31, 1964 someone shot Louis Allen, an independent black logger in Amite County, who had endured economic harassment and police violence after talking to Justice Department authorities about the murder of Herbert Lee, killing him almost instantly.  No one was ever charged with his murder.  In Pike County, whites fired into two black businesses and two homes earlier that month, wounding a teenaged boy.  In the spring Klansmen bombed a barbershop owned by McComb Mississippi NAACP activist C. C. Bryant.  In the Adams County seat of Natchez (pop 25,000), an industrializing city with a 42 percent black population, Klan recruiter E. L. McDaniel organized a Klavern composed of white factory workers.  Members of this Klan unit flogged Alfred Whitley, a janitor at the Armstrong Rubber Company, as well as Archie Curtis, chairman of the Natchez Business and Civic League’s voter registration drive.  Klansmen also bombed the home of Leonard Russell, active in the Negro Pulp and Sulfite Worker’s local.  As with the murder of Clinton Walker, an International Paper Company worker shot in the back on the night of February 28, no arrests ensued.

By April, Samuel Holloway Bowers, of Laurel Mississippi, had consolidated leadership over the 750 member strong White Knights of the Ku Klux Klan of Mississippi.  Bowers, who had argued for the use of violence at the Brookhaven meeting, was a persuasive talker with exceptional organizing ability.  Helped by Grand Dragon Julius Harper of Crystal Springs, Klan Bureau of Investigation chief and Brookhaven unit leader Ernest Gilbert, Klan recruiter Edgar Ray “Preacher” Killen and Lauderdale unit leader Frank Herndon, Bowers established Klaverns in Neshoba and Lauderdale counties.
  KBI Province investigators Jack Williams of Pelahatchie, H.L. Holmes of Jackson, Woody Mathews of Utica, and Gordon Lackey of Greenwood, also helped the White Knights to expand in Mississippi.  Amid cross burnings, and mass rallies, the Knights established fifty-two Klaverns, across half of Mississippi’s counties.  According to information provided by Klan officers at a meeting of Hinds County Klaverns on June 24, the White Knights had established 70 Klaverns in 81 counties.  As the schools desegregated in fall, according to FBI estimates, they had recruited from 5000 to 6000 members.
  

Sam Bowers organized Klan violence through a secretive, hierarchical chain of command.  Before the decade was out, he would authorize 300 acts of vigilante violence and terrorism.  To prepare what he called his “elitist priesthood” for the “enemy” attack against “Christian civilization,” Bowers instructed his Klansmen to prepare for guerilla war.
  They were to bury weapons in readiness for an impending race war against the Communist conspiracy, which, he declared, was an “agency of Satan.”
  “Massive street demonstrations and agitation by blacks,” Bowers forewarned, will be coupled with “a decree from the Communist authorities in charge of the national Government,” declaring “martial law.”
  

At a secret meeting of White Knights officers held on June 7 near Raleigh, nearly 300 White Knights listened to speeches by State officers, who told them that they had organized 62 Whites Knights Klaverns, in 82 Mississippi counties.
  In addition to discussing various harassment techniques the officers advised Klansmen to buy firearms.  Sam Bowers urged them to assist law enforcement and catch civil rights activists breaking the law, so that they would “have the right to kill them.”
  Klan members were to join “local home guard units” to assist police.  The enemy, he promised, would be countered by these “legally deputized” law enforcement auxiliaries in the daytime, and by an independent, “extremely violent Hit and Run group” by night.
  Klan infiltration into law enforcement, and auxiliary police forces, occurred in Natchez, as well as smaller communities, such as Philadelphia and Laurel Mississippi.
  Klan officers explained that Province leaders would begin selecting Klan units to undertake acts of arson and vandalism against COFO meeting places, and that unit leaders would then select individual Klansmen to undertake each job.

Waveland Mississippi-based Klan recruiter Louis Anthony DiSalvo, according to investigators of the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax Unit of the Treasury Department, purchased at least 74 rifles, some of which wound up in the hands of White Knights officers.  According to information acquired by HUAC investigators, DiSalvo had discussed plans to form a Klan firing squad, at a Poplarville Mississippi Klavern meeting.  Klavern members became fearful that such a squad might be used against suspected informants, and began discussing the possibility of affiliating with the UKA.  By October 1965, DiSalvo had also joined the UKA, and four of the rifles he had bought, were found in the possession of a United Klans of America Exalted Cyclops who was later arrested and pled guilty in McComb Mississippi bombings.
  
Parts of the American South were pushed “to the edge of anarchy” in spring 1964.
  Between January and May, nearly forty incidents of Klan-type vigilantism occurred.  In Southwest Mississippi, five blacks were killed in six months.  In McComb, Mississippi’s most violent city, Klansmen associated with the Alabama based United Klans of America launched a five-month long bombing campaign on June 22.
  At the same time, the Mississippi Sovereignty Commission, a well-funded state investigation agency, infiltrated civil rights organizations, funded private resistance groups, and employed economic intimidation against civil rights activists.
 
 In the first week of June, Attorney General Robert Kennedy forwarded Civil Rights Division attorney Burke Marshall’s proposal, that the FBI identify Klansmen and investigate their relations with law enforcement, to the President.  Marshall presented Ku Klux Klan “terrorism” as a matter of internal security, noting that:  

The techniques followed in the use of specially trained, special assignment agents in the infiltration of Communist groups should be of value.  If you approve, I recommend taking up with the Bureau the possibility of developing a similar effort to meet this new problem.

After three voting rights activists (two of them white), disappeared in Neshoba County on June 21, the President directed the FBI to accelerate its infiltration of Klan groups.  

The Bureau identified all Mississippi Klan officers, escalated investigations of Klan infiltration into Mississippi law enforcement agencies, and began to provide detailed accounts of Klan violence to the Justice Department’s Civil Rights Division.  FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover flew to Jackson to open a new FBI office.  He met with Governor Paul Johnson, and provided him with the names of highway patrolmen who had joined the Klan.  Johnson had the men fired, and ordered the patrol to interrogate rural Klansmen.
  In October 1964, Mississippi Highway Patrol officers arrested Adams County Klansmen James Greer, Ernest Avants, and Myron Wayne “Jack” Seale.  A bench warrant charged them with assault and battery with the intent to kill and murder, for an attack on two civil rights workers that had occurred in October 1963.

The Meridian Star carried a paid advertisement, reproduced from the October 5 issue of The Southern Review, a newspaper edited by Jackson Klan officer Elmore Douglas Greaves.
  The advertisement warned “white people” about FBI “harassment” and advised them how to keep silent.
  In the Review, Greaves declared that “a police state exists in South Mississippi.”
  In Adams County, where a number of bombings had recently occurred, the local White Knights Klavern also protested “unlawful searches and seizures,” alleging that communist pressure on the government had created a  “Police State.”
  

Burke Marshall later characterized Klan vigilantism in Mississippi as a “criminal conspiracy” that required a “drastic” response.
  Two hundred FBI agents worked on the Neshoba case.  They interviewed more than 1000 Mississippi residents, including four hundred eighty members of the White Knights. They also subjected Klansmen to intense surveillance and aggressive interviews.  Informant penetration was also accelerated.
  After the murder of U.S. Army Reserve lieutenant Lemuel Penn near Atlanta Georgia on July 10, the FBI instituted aggressive internal-security investigations of Klan groups throughout the South.
  FBI administrators transferred Klan investigations from the Criminal Division to the Internal Security Division, stepped up infiltration and surveillance, and instructed field office agents to compile reports on the membership, leadership and plans of Klan groups.
 

In Philadelphia Mississippi, Bureau agents berated unresponsive police, provided protection in the black community, and even guarded the local COFO office against Klan attack.  They took affidavits from local blacks who had been assaulted and brutalized by Neshoba County police.  Speculation remains to this day, about whether the FBI paid $30,000 to an informant to divulge the location of the bodies of the missing voting rights activists.  The bodies were located on August 3, encouraging Greenville’s Democrat-Times, as well as some Neshoba County whites to recognize that Klan vigilantism was a very real problem in Mississippi.
  

On Independence Day, White Knights Imperial Wizard Sam Bowers had declared that anyone who read J. Edgar Hoover’s Masters of Deceit, could see that the Neshoba investigation was a “hoax,” created by “domestic communists.”
 In August, the Knights distributed pamphlets that called President Johnson a “Communist sympathizer,” and likened the FBI to the "Gestapo."
  At a Hines County Klavern meeting, Grand Dragon Julius Harper reported that that he would attempt to identify FBI informants in the Klan, and that those exposed would be severely punished, betraying the fact that the FBI investigation was effecting Klan operations.
  In public, however, the White Knights declared COFO’s campaign a “failure,” and declared victory in the early autumn edition of the Klan Ledger.

The immediate effect of FBI investigations was limited, however, because in 1964 Mississippi juries were still acquitting white supremacist vigilantes.
  During the search for the missing civil rights workers, for example, a fisherman found the bodies of Charles Eddie Moore and Henry Hezekiah Dee, two Meadville Mississippi residents who had been missing since May.  After conducting an extensive investigation, the FBI arrested James Ford Searle and Charles Marcus Edwards, two Klansmen who worked for the International Paper Company.  Edwards signed a confession.  The FBI passed on the confession and other evidence to Mississippi prosecutors, but the State chose not to indict.
  Indeed, the first conviction for a racially motivated murder in a Southern state came in Alabama, in December 1965.  The first federal civil rights conviction also came in Alabama, on the next day.
  

Before this, FBI informants surfaced to testify in vain, and aggressive FBI investigations were not enough to suppress vigilante violence.  Thirty-five shootings, thirty bombings, thirty-five church burnings, eighty beatings, and at least six racially motivated murders took place in Mississippi during the first eight months of 1964.  Fourteen died in civil rights related killings.  Four more were perpetrated in 1965.  In Jones County Mississippi, more than forty acts of assault, bombing or arson took place, including the bombing of two newspapers.
  This violence constituted a “deliberate pattern of Klan terror," according to the FBI.
 

Therefore, on September 2 1964, senior FBI executives implemented COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE, a covert action to neutralize Klan leaders and their organizations.
  "If you can curb the organization," FBI executives reasoned, "you can curb action or violence within the organization.”
  If they could reduce Klan membership, violence would decline, thereby reducing further recruiting.
  As William Keller has explained, in the summer of 1964 liberals in the Johnson administration forced the FBI to penetrate Klan groups.  They intended that the Bureau should acquire evidence for conspiracy prosecutions, and thereby suppress vigilante violence and terrorism.  To accomplish this goal however, the FBI also created a covert action program to expose, disrupt and neutralize Klan organizations.

Once a week, during the fall of 1964, FBI agents interrogated all known members of the White Knights.  During questioning, agents would blame other Klansmen for having provided the subject's name to the Bureau.  Agents planted electronic surveillance devices in Klan meeting places.  They contacted the news media to publicize arrests and identify Klan leaders.  Local law enforcement also applied pressure.  Some rank and file White Knights dropped out as a result.
  By late September, two suspects in the Neshoba case had become extremely nervous.  They were speculating about who was providing information to the Bureau.
  

The FBI recruited its first important informants, KBI chief Ernest Gilbert, and Sgt. Wallace Miller of the Meridian Police Department, in mid-summer.  Recently apprised of the Moore-Dee murders, Gilbert had become disenchanted with the Klan.  Importantly for the FBI, Gilbert had also refused an order by Klansman Ray ‘Preacher’ Killen to kill Wilmer Faye Jones, a black student accused of asking a white woman for a date.  Like the three civil rights workers a few weeks later, Jones had been arrested by Neshoba County Sheriff Lawrence Rainey and Deputy Cecil Price, who released him to a group of Klansmen.
  Klansmen involved in the Neshoba murders, meanwhile, had confided in Wallace Miller, the White Knights’ first organizer in Lauderdale County.  Miller provided the most important information about the Neshoba County murders, but other informants, developed during September and October also provided important leads.  They fingered two Klansmen involved in the Neshoba murders, leading to two important confessions in that case.  Klan informants also provided information that allowed the FBI and Meridian police to thwart a bomb plot against COFO headquarters.  The arrest of Meridian Klansman James C. Rutledge for dynamite possession provoked fear about informants among the White Knights, as well as a proposal to kill the prisoner, lest he provide more information.
  Nevertheless, civil rights workers tabulated at least fifty incidents of harassment and violence between October 8 and November 2.
  

In November, Meridian resident Delmar Dennis, who would soon become Bowers’ Province Titan (administrative officer for a Congressional District), also began providing FBI agents with useful information on the Meridian murders, as well as information about communications from Bowers to his Klan units.
  At this point, he would also have been able to inform FBI agents about the brawling between Meridian and Neshoba County White Knights, which had taken place five days before the Neshoba County murders.  The Meridian group was angry, because Neshoba Klansmen had failed to participate in their assaults against a group of blacks emerging from a civil rights meeting.
  

Dennis’s John Birch Society, segregationist, and conservative-Protestant credentials would also provide vital credibility during subsequent prosecutions in Southern courtrooms.
  At this stage in the operation, Jackson field office agents used Dennis and Miller to elevate Klan member Billy Birdsong into the White Knights hierarchy.  A volatile Klansman who advocated violence, Birdsong had boasted about the assaults and church bombings he had committed.  He was also a leading critic of the Neshoba County Klavern’s performance at the civil rights meeting.
  According to official FBI historian Don Whitehead, the agents reasoned that “a compulsive talker in a place of authority would be a useful tool” for their intelligence operations.
  They succeeded on December 1, 1964, when Bowers gave Birdsong responsibility for finding informers and communicating his orders to local Klan units.
  FBI agents now told their informants to plant suspicion and spread the idea that other Klansmen were informing on their brethren.

Infighting and suspicion led to expulsions and internecine violence.  Due to rumors that Wallace Miller had allowed the FBI to bug a Klan meeting after which all attendees had received visits from Bureau agents, for example, Bowers ordered Dennis to banish the policeman from the Knights in December.   Miller, threatened by other Klansmen, now decided to provide more information to the FBI.  Later, Dennis also prevented the killing of another FBI witness, James Jordan.  Miller had alerted the FBI to Jordan’s participation in the conspiracy.  Jordan began providing information after FBI agent John Proctor demonstrated knowledge of his secret Klan number, and offered him $3500.  During the first two weeks of December, Bureau agents arrested twenty-one suspects in the Neshoba case.
  

Their prosecutive summary report included the statements of informants who had witnessed the murders.  Another break came on January 6, when a letter that Bowers had mailed to Dennis at Billy Birdsong’s hotel, was delivered to Dennis’s rural post box instead.  The letter, which Dennis handed over to the FBI, was to become valuable to the prosecution of the case.  Moreover, Bowers blamed Birdsong for the letter’s disappearance.  Given their falling out, Birdsong also began providing information to the Bureau. 
  A Federal Grand Jury handed down seventeen indictments on January 15.  Judge William Howard Cox, however, delivered a setback to Federal prosecutors on February 24, when he threw out the government’s indictments.  The Justice Department was forced to appeal to the Supreme Court of the United States, which did not overturn the decision until March 1966.
  Vigilante violence continued as well.  In Warren County, a number of assaults and shootings into homes, as well as two firebombings took place between September 1964 and June 1965.  In March, to cite one example, Warren County Klansmen assaulted a 77 year-old black man and caused extensive damage to a café that had served him, by throwing a Molotov cocktail through its window.

In fall 1964 Bowers had assured his Klansmen that funds would be raised should anyone be indicted for Klan activity.  Between January and March 1965, the Klan collected $2500 in funds.  Through spring and summer 1965, however, FBI informants were able to plant distrust among the White Knights, by questioning Bowers’ accounting practices as well as his failure to provide financial support for the defendants in the Neshoba case.  Bowers attempted to rally his Klansmen by haranguing them with tales of African troops training in Cuba for an invasion of Mississippi.  Yet factionalism over Bowers’ leadership continued to fester.  Conflict between Neshoba County and Laurel Klansmen was especially bitter.
  Conflict over financial matters also broke out between Bowers, and members of the Forrest County Klavern.  In late 1964 or early 1965, according to HUAC investigators, Exalted Cyclops Mordaunt Hamilton pulled a gun on Samuel Bowers and Travis Ainsworth at a Forrest County Klavern meeting.  He told them that they could to leave the meeting until they had repaid some money that had been collected for the purchase of Klan robes.

In summer 1965, Bowers also began to lose large numbers of Klansmen to Robert Shelton's Alabama based United Klans of America (UKA).  The rival group was engaged in a major organizing drive in Mississippi, having held it’s State convention in Natchez on May 16-17, where a new set of UKA State officers were elected.  On July 10, a UKA rally in Meridian, featuring a short speech by Neshoba County case defendant Sheriff Rainey, drew 1000 people.  During late July, two other rallies at Crossroads Mississippi each drew between 5000 and 8000 people.  A rally at Greenville, where Rainey and co-defendant Deputy Cecil Price were introduced, drew 1000 people.

As discussed below, E. L. McDaniel, Bowers’ recruiter in Natchez, had defected to Shelton’s group sometime in late spring 1964.  Robert Shelton advised McDaniel to contact White Knights Province Titan Delmar Dennis, and in November, FBI agents authorized Dennis to cooperate with McDaniel, both to gain information about the growing UKA and to spur defections from the White Knights to a less violent Klan group.  In February 1965, to increase tension between the two Klan groups, Dennis provided McDaniel with a list of White Knights who had become critical of Bowers.  Alton Wayne Roberts and Billy Birdsong were especially upset, because Bowers had failed to provide financial help to the Lauderdale and Meridian Klansmen who had been indicted in the Neshoba County case.  Bowers and Roberts eventually came to terms, but Birdsong, who remained one of Bowers’ most vocal critics, began recruiting for the UKA.  Presumably in retaliation for this disloyalty, Birdsong was pistol whipped by three masked men in early 1965.  Bowers eventually lost most of his Meridian Klansmen, including Roberts, to the UKA, and, over time, Bowers gradually lost all support among Klansmen living outside Jones County.

Bowers also attempted, but failed, to prevent his Klansmen from informing to the FBI.  At a meeting of Klan organizers on July 18, Devours Nix, the newly elected Klan security chief, searched everyone for recording devices.
  In mid-August, Earl Hodges, an ex-Klansman whom other White Knights believed to be an informant, was brutally beaten to death near Meadville, in Franklin County.
  To throw off FBI investigators, Bowers instructed his Province Titans to undertake acts of violence throughout the state, in an attempt to spread the investigators thin.  In late summer, Bowers lifted a moratorium on violence that he had implemented the previous November, due to fear of infiltration, as well as the increasing financial drain of legal fees, which had left the Knights $5000 in debt.  Nightriders perpetrated five shootings into occupied dwellings, sixteen arsons, and nine attempted arsons in the Laurel-Hattiesburg area, provoking condemnation from segregationist Mayor Henry Bucklew.  The Laurel Leader-Call published a statement signed by five hundred community leaders that condemned the violence.  FBI agents warned Bowers that they were aware of his policy change, that his members were under surveillance, and that he would be subjected to 24-hour surveillance if he did not rescind his recent orders to resume violence.  They targeted one of his more active Klansmen for harassment, and made contact with another Klansman who had argued against the effectiveness of vigilante violence.
  In general, those Klansmen, who renounced violence and quit the Klan, were left alone.  Those who did not were investigated, threatened with prosecution and pressured to provide information.
 

In response to FBI threats, Bowers ordered another 90-day moratorium on violence.  Some of the more frustrated Klansmen in Mississippi however, continued to terrorize on their own initiative.  On August 27, Natchez NAACP activist George Metcalf was crippled by a car bomb, provoking angry demonstrations by local blacks.  After a series of demonstrations and boycotts, blacks achieved agreements from the city, to hire blacks, improve housing and desegregate schools, but prosecution of Metcalf’s killer never occurred.
  

During late 1965, the Internal Revenue Service and the House Committee on Un-American Activities also began to play a significant role in the FBI-coordinated anti-Klan effort.  In October the FBI distributed its reports on White Knights finances to the IRS, which had provided Sam Bowers’ tax returns to the Bureau earlier in the year.
  That same month, the House Committee on Un-American Activities began to expose the structure, size and internal documents of Klan groups across the South.
  In January and February 1966, the Committee interrogated officers of the White Knights, exposing them and the activities of their Klansmen to public scrutiny.
  Klansmen responded by burning at least one hundred crosses across the State.
  HUAC mapped and listed the locations of all White Knights Klaverns and described the Klan’s organizational structure.
  They published detailed accounts of internal Klan elections, listing the names of numerous state officers, Klan organizers, and local Klavern leaders.
  Committee members discussed statements made at Klavern meetings, including authorizations for acts of arson and vandalism, making it abundantly clear that the Knights had never operated in secret.
  They published Klan literature and discussed organizational finances.
  The State legislature applauded Governor Johnson when he called for the suppression of nightriding activity.

The information publicized through the hearings, while highly disruptive to the Knights, also threatened to expose FBI informants.  Delmar Dennis, for example, was called before the committee.  FBI agents, however, helped their informant to fake an automobile accident and he was able to avoid testifying.
  By 1966, the FBI had developed 488 informants in the 1500 strong Knights.
  On January 4, the FBI arrested seven Meridian Klansmen after FBI agents were fired upon while monitoring preparations for a cross burning.
  A few days later, allies of the FBI who also opposed the Klan, published and distributed pamphlets that identified the highly secretive Sam Bowers as Imperial Wizard of the White Knights.  Upset, Bowers offered $1000 to anyone who could identify the source of the leaflet.
  Bowers made plans to re-organize the Knights and thereby frustrate FBI infiltration, and Klan violence continued to plague Mississippi. 

On January 10, while the HUAC was interrogating Mississippi Klansmen and exposing their activities, Hattiesburg Mississippi voting rights activist Vernon Dahmer was murdered in a firebomb attack upon his home, shifting the focus of FBI investigations to Jones County.  The killing aroused unprecedented outrage among white residents of Laurel-Hattiesburg, convincing the Laurel District Attorney and the city’s Mayor to publicly denounce the Knights.  Law enforcement authorities in Jones and Forrest Counties now began to work more closely with the FBI, which launched a relentless investigation.
  In March, Jackson field office agents composed a letter that contained information known to only a few members of the Knights.  The letter indicated that a suspect had told the FBI everything.  In December, Bowers and his White Knights would convict this Klansman of informing in a Klan trial.  There was talk about killing him.
  

Dahmer’s attackers had left a good deal of physical evidence at the scene of their crime.  Delmar Dennis and other FBI informants helped to finger a number of Laurel Klavern members in the murder.  Interviews led Klansmen Lawrence Byrd, Billy Moss and Cecil Sessum to admit knowledge about the killing.  Sessum later renounced his confession, claiming in a widely circulated affidavit that a US Marshall had beaten the confession out of him in front of FBI agent Roy Moore.  According to an informant who attended a subsequent Klan meeting in Laurel, Sessum had called upon his Klan brothers to kill Byrd and Moss.  In late March the FBI seized an arsenal and bomb diagrams from Bowers’ home, and filed charges against 14 Klansmen, including Bowers, Sessum, Byrd, and Deavours Nix.
  The White Knights disseminated leaflets that alleged that FBI agents had killed Dahmer in the hospital, and accused them of “kidnapping, whipping, threatening and torturing white Christian Citizens’ of Mississippi.”
  Bowers’ attorney also circulated charges that the FBI had knowingly fingered innocent people, but on April 19, a Jones County grand jury issued an extraordinary statement in support of the FBI investigation.
  A transition was taking place: even as some civil rights activists began to abandon tactical non-violence in favor of self-defense, local whites began to view Klan murders as acts of terrorism, rather than as acts of zealous vigilantism.

The arrests and subsequent indictments severely damaged the prestige of the White Knights in Jones County.  Many Klansmen quit, concerned that the FBI’s informants would land them in prison.
  Indeed, the testimony of T. Webber Rogers, who quit the Knights after the murder of Dahmer, would prove important to prosecutors.
  On the other hand, more than two thousand people attended an April 11 rally in Laurel, hosted by Sam Bowers, to raise funds for the Neshoba County defendants.
  Bowers, who declared FBI agents to be “representatives of the anti-Christ,” collected $1000 for the defense fund.
  FBI agents secretly filmed the proceedings and even managed to cut the power for a few minutes.

So as not to jeopardize prosecution, Jackson Mississippi field office FBI agents suspended counterintelligence operations against the defendants in April 1966.  They did, however, mail 351 cartoon postcards to other members of the White Knights, as well as members of the United Klans, over the next three months.  The cards depicted a Klansman peering over a sheet, with the caption, “KLANSMAN! Trying to hide your identity behind your sheet? You received this-Someone KNOWS Who You Are!”
  Some of the recipients re-produced the postcards and mailed them to other addresses in Hattiesburg.
  Given the arrests, however, others became convinced that the FBI had "penetrated entirely the veil of secrecy surrounding their activity," and many Klan units simply folded.
  As early as May, the number of hard core Klansmen in Lauderdale County had been reduced to between seven and ten.
  

Internecine violence also began to plague the Knights in 1966.  When Bowers endorsed the candidacy of James O. Eastland at a public rally in Byram, declaring that the Republican Party was “ruled by the Jews,” for example, some attendees who endorsed the Republican challenger became upset.  Returning to their automobiles to get their guns, they forced Bowers to terminate his speech. 
  One Klansman threatened that he would shoot Bowers if he ever dare to return to the area.  In late December, one hundred Klansmen broke away from the White Knights to form a new unit.

On the other hand, Klansmen continued to perpetrate racial murders and other acts of terror.  On June 10, 1966 members of an Adams County White Knights cell known as the Cottonmouth Moccasin gang kidnapped a black farmer and murdered him.  Hoping to lure Martin Luther King to Mississippi, they shot Deacon Ben Chester White, whom they had selected at random, sixteen times.  Four days later, FBI agents arrested Ernest Fuller, Ernest Avants and James Jones.  FBI documents indicate that O’Dell Adams, the Adams Sheriff who led the local investigation of the White murder, was also a Klansmen.  Jones expressed remorse at his April 1967 State trial, and obtained a hung jury.  Eight months later, a State jury acquitted Ernest Avants, whose lawyer argued that White was already dead when Avants blew off his head with a shotgun.  Five former jurors later agreed that two jurors had made up their minds before trial even began.  King did appear in Mississippi a few weeks later, to participate in a march commemorating the second anniversary of the Neshoba killings.  Although 300 white counter-protesters threw bottles, stones and firecrackers, punching black marchers and firing guns, King escaped unharmed.
  

In July, someone shot into the home of a black minister in Laurel.  When desegregated schools opened two months later, black children in Grenada were attacked by white mobs.  In December, two people shot a black youth attempting to obtain service at the Chow House Cafe in Laurel.  Two months later, a similar incident occurred in Carrollton Mississippi.
  Also in February 1967, Natchez NAACP treasurer Wharlest Jackson was killed after he accepted a job formerly held by a white man at the Armstrong Tire and Rubber Company.  His murderers used a car bomb similar to the one that had crippled George Metcalf in 1965.
  On March 13, a bomb destroyed the office of the Southwestern Mississippi Child Development Council in Liberty, Mississippi.
  The Laurel Leader-Call was bombed in April.
  In June, the Civil Rights Division compiled a report on the progress of Federal Civil Rights cases involving racial violence.  Of the nine cases filed in Mississippi since January 1965, six had resulted in acquittals and the charges had been dismissed in another.  Three were awaiting trial.

Thirteen days after White was murdered, however, a federal grand jury had also indicted sixteen Klansmen, including Sam Bowers, on civil rights charges related to the Dahmer murder.  Although efforts to convict Bowers in this crime, amid jury tampering, would result in three mistrials, the trials themselves drove Klansmen out of the White Knights.  In November, two Klansmen, Travis Buckley and Billy Roy Pitts, were jailed for abducting and attempting to intimidate Jack Watkins, a prosecution witness in that case.  Pitts and Bowers had a falling out after Bowers failed to support Pitts on the kidnapping charge.  Pitts went to the FBI and implicated Sessum, Nix and Bowers in the kidnapping, which precipitated their arrests.  He also implicated Sessum, Nix and a Klansman named Charles Wilson in the Dahmer murder.
  

In February 1967, moreover, a federal grand jury indicted a new group of 19 defendants in the Neshoba case.
  The trial finally began on October 9.  Despite Klan efforts to influence and threaten jury members, on October 20, after an eleven-day trial highlighted by the testimony of FBI informants Sgt. Wallace Miller, James Jordan and Delmar Dennis, a Mississippi jury returned seven guilty verdicts.  Samuel Bowers and Alton Wayne Roberts were sentenced to ten years in jail.
  Delmar Dennis, who surfaced to testify in this trial, was harassed by Klansmen and subjected to spurious criminal proceedings by a Justice of the Peace in sympathy with the Klan.  Shortly after the trial, a window next to his bed was shot out while he slept.
  Klansmen burned Wallace Miller’s grocery as well.
  

FBI agents, however, were not opposed to using strong-arm tactics either.  They had solved the case, according to Burke Marshall, 

  . . . by bribery, by payments to informers, by whatever eavesdropping was then permitted under the Bureau's rules, by the sowing of suspicion among Klan members so that none knew who was an informer and who not, by infiltration and deception . . .

As FBI Special Agent Paul Cummings put it, "We were at war and we used some muscle."
  Cummings shot out the windows of a favorite Klan hangout in Natchez, for example, after Klansmen threatened FBI agents.
  

According to former FBI agent Neil Welch, 

A number of men previously involved in Klan violence around the State seemed, by remarkable coincidence, to experience misfortune.  Some disappeared from the area.  Some were forced to leave Mississippi for health reasons.  A few took unplanned trips to places like Mexico and seemed to lose all interest in the Klan upon their return." 
 

 Uncooperative local sheriffs, he said, were subjected to corruption investigations connected to the bootleg whisky trade.
  

According to Delmar Dennis, FBI agents also used helicopters to buzz low over paramilitary training sessions near Byram, where Bowers instructed Klansmen in the use of explosives.
  Journalists have even claimed that Mississippi FBI agents enlisted a Mafia hit-man, Gregory Scarpa, who kidnapped, assaulted and threatened to kill Lawrence Byrd to obtain a lead in the Dahmer murder investigation.
  This combination of covert action and strong-arm tactics was effective.  By January 1966, White Knights membership had declined from 5000-6000 members down to 1500.  By early 1967, the number of Knights had dropped to 400, and by October, that number was down to 250.
  

On the other hand, many ex-Knights had simply defected to Robert Shelton's Alabama based United Klans of America.  The UKA had set up its first Mississippi Klavern in McComb during spring 1964.  Former Klansman Billy Wilson estimated that as of October, the UKA had signed up about 350 members in the area.  A rally featuring Shelton drew about eight hundred people to the town in May.  Due to disputes over Klan dues, a number of Adams County Klansmen broke off from the White Knights and joined the UKA in June.  By October, this Klavern was composed of around 100 members.  After spending a few months with recruiter Douglas A. Byrd in early 1964, E. L. McDaniel left the White Knights amid accusations of embezzlement.  In fact, McDaniel had also been secretly recruiting for Shelton’s group at the time.  According to FBI figures for spring 1964, McDaniel had organized seventy-six Mississippi Klaverns with approximately 750 Klansmen.
  Appointed Grand Dragon for Mississippi in July, McDaniel drew away more White Knights from Natchez and Morgentown during August.  By that time, the McComb Klavern had grown so large that became necessary to split it in two and create a second Klavern in the city.
  

As COINTELPRO got underway during September, CBS News broadcast a critical documentary on the Ku Klux Klan.  The national broadcast featured Grand Dragon E. L. McDaniel’s introduction of Sheriff Rainey at the July UKA rally in Meridian, making it clear to the American public that the UKA sided with the defendants in the Neshoba case.
  The FBI’s first priority vis-a-vis the UKA, however, was to find the perpetrators of more than twenty-five bombings, which had occurred in and around McComb since April.  Pike County officials joined this investigation after local blacks engaged in retaliatory violence.  President Johnson threatened to send in troops.  After columnist Drew Pearson wrote a critical piece for the Washington Post, which alleged that local oilman J. E. Thornhill had been financing McComb area Klan activity, Thornhill decided to quit the UKA.  

The FBI’s bombing investigation led members of one McComb Klavern to discuss FBI operations at their meetings.   Nevertheless, McComb area Klansmen undertook a new series of bombings, in Adams County, that month.  The Bureau finally solved the case through the use of informants.  In a joint operation during October, the FBI and the Mississippi Highway Patrol arrested 11 members of McComb’s two UKA Klaverns, seizing guns, hypodermic syringes and homemade bombs.
  

More than 650 Whites published a paid advertisement in the McComb Enterprise-Journal, calling for an end to racial violence and equal treatment for black citizens.  Undaunted, one of the arrested Klansmen wrote a letter to the editor of the Jackson Daily News, in which he declared that he was proud of having made the bombs.  He protested that “We have a police state here now and a white man gets treated like an animal if doesn’t go along with COFO and NAACP . . .”
  Prosecutors obtained nine federal indictments and all the Klansmen pled guilty or no contest.  Mississippi Judge William Watkins, citing “undue provocations” by blacks, however, soon handed down probation terms to all the defendants.  J. Edgar Hoover denounced him.
  

The bombers had been broken up, and blacks were served in McComb restaurants for the first time without interference, but violence continued in Pike County.  A union official named Otis Mathews, for example, was kidnapped and whipped by masked men in mid-November, apparently by Laurel Klan members who worked at the Masonite plant.
  The FBI and State Highway patrol officials investigating an assault on two civil rights workers near Port Gibson, also arrested five Klansmen on charges of assault with intent to kill that October.  They seized an arsenal of weapons from M. W. Seale, a member of the Adams County UKA security guard.
  

Despite the fact that arrests and trials did not always result in conviction, they nevertheless managed to serve a counterintelligence function, because they created a financial drain on the UKA.  This, in turn, created internal problems between Grand Dragon E. L. McDaniel and the UKA leadership.  In January 1965, McDaniel criticized other State units, as well as the Imperial Office, for not sending financial support to defend the Klansmen arrested in Mississippi.
 

Evidently, Shelton and McDaniel temporarily resolved this conflict, at least for a time, since they jointly launched a successful UKA recruitment drive in Mississippi during spring.
  As mentioned above, McDaniel, helped by FBI informants Delmar Dennis and Billy Birdsong, managed to convince significant numbers of White Knights to defect to the UKA during spring and summer 1965.  High ranking recruits included White Knights security chief and FBI informant Ernest Gilbert, who had coordinated acts of intimidation and violence for the White Knights, as well as Klan chaplain John Paul Foster, Province administrator C. J. Seal and Waveland-based Klan organizer Louis DiSalvo.
  Aside from recruiting, however, UKA kept a relatively low profile until Christmas Eve, 1965, when E. L. McDaniel signed an affidavit for the arrest of Natchez Police Chief J. T. Robinson.  McDaniel charged Robinson with failing to arrest civil rights leaders under a state anti-Boycott law.  Robinson was arrested by Sheriff Odell Anders, leading the House Un-American Activities Committee to inquire whether McDaniel’s real object, had been to replace the anti-Klan Police Department Chief, so that a UKA member in the police force could be promoted to replace him.
  

Less than two weeks later, the UKA dramatized its presence in Mississippi.  Klansmen burned over a hundred crosses throughout the state, in protest against the HUAC’s resumption of hearings on the Klan.  Meridian police, who had staked out the UKA operation, fired upon a group of men who tossed a flaming cross into the yard of attorney William Ready.  Although the perpetrators managed to escape, the police arrested five men on conspiracy charges after seizing a kerosene-soaked cross from their pickup truck.  At least one other man was arrested in Pontotoc.  In Benton County, Highway Patrol officers arrested Bobby and Allen Byrd.  They were charged with assault, for having opened fire on FBI agents who had tailed them after they burned a cross in front of a civil rights group’s headquarters.

At the hearings, HUAC committee members identified UKA Klansmen, Klavern names, and Klavern locations. 
   They published information on Mississippi UKA finances. 
  The HUAC, with the help of the IRS and the FBI, was also able to expose embezzlement and false accounting by UKA’s national leadership.
  To demonstrate that the UKA was a violent Klan group, Billy Earl Wilson, a former UKA member, was called.  He provided detailed testimony on his participation in the McComb bombings, as well as a number of church burnings.
  Unlike other UKA members who appeared before HUAC who were provided council by the Klan, all of the McComb area Klansmen appeared without council.  This led Congressman Weltner to speculate that the UKA leadership had not supported these Klansmen, because it was trying to maintain the fiction that the UKA summarily discharged anyone convicted of an act of violence.
  

In January 1966 the Titan of UKA Province 2 contacted Charles Snodgrass, a high-ranking officer of the Mississippi Highway Patrol.  The high-ranking Klan officer, who was also a Sharkey County Supervisor, was having second thoughts about having recruited for the group.  His northern Mississippi Klansmen were becoming disgruntled over Imperial Wizard Robert Shelton's expectation that they raise $6000 to cover expenses arising from subpoenas issued by the House Committee on un-American Activities.  Tired of not being told where their contributions were going, he and three other Klan leaders were thinking of pulling out of the UKA.
  At the other end of the state, two Klaverns in Pascagoula disaffiliated with the UKA and joined the White Knights.


COINTELPRO operations against the Mississippi UKA now began in earnest.  As part of a nationwide effort, FBI agents mailed letters to Mississippi Klansmen, inviting them to join a notional patriotic organization, which they had created.  Appealing to evangelical Protestantism and patriotic feelings, these communications tried to convince recipients that Klan leaders were merely using the Klan to line their own pockets, and that the best way to fight Communism was to support the troops in Vietnam.  National UKA leaders became very concerned about these letters, as well as the postcards mentioned earlier in this article.  Robert Shelton denounced the NCDT in a special imperial newsletter, as well as the Fiery Cross newspaper.  Agents composed various types of postcards and letters, which questioned Shelton’s attacks and supported the NCDT.  They signed these communications using the names of prominent UKA Klansmen in Mississippi, and sent them to UKA headquarters.  In Mississippi and a number of states, as Klansmen fell under suspicion of informing on their brethren, infighting and resignations mounted.

In March, agents began exploiting allegations that Grand Dragon E. L. McDaniel was frequenting a former prostitute.  Informants also raised the issue of financial irregularities in the UKA State office, causing seven dissident units to walk out of a State board meeting.  To quell the rebellion, Imperial Wizard Robert Shelton ousted McDaniel in August.  Shelton dissolved all the Mississippi State offices in September, and placed the Mississippi UKA under direct administrative control of UKA Headquarters.  Dissension wracked the Mississippi UKA.  Most of the Klaverns in the state became inactive.  By November, the Jackson Daily News reported that the Mississippi UKA was floundering.  By January 1967, state membership had declined back down to 750, spread across 30 Klaverns.
  

In January, a former UKA officer from northern Mississippi denounced the Klan in a newspaper exposé.  Declaring that the Klan was a “racket,” designed to “take in poor, innocent people” for their money, the officer called Klan leaders “booze heads and dope heads,” and declared that some of them belonged in a “mental institution.”
  He claimed that once an individual joined the Klan, it was difficult to get out, and described the fear and social ostracism that Klansmen experienced, because of Klan violence, FBI infiltration job loss and public scorn.
  In February, FBI agents composed resignation letters purporting to come from a group of UKA officers and mailed them to rank and file members.  The letters also received nationwide press coverage.  The Bogue Chitto Unit # 713 unit nearly fell apart.  One Jackson Daily News article, distributed nationwide through the Associated Press that February, described the Mississippi UKA as "crumbling."  During spring 1967, as McDaniel attempted to retain leadership over Mississippi Klansmen and disrupt Shelton's reorganization efforts, disunity increased.  The UKA elected three Titans to run Mississippi, but the State had no other representatives on the National UKA governing board.


In the meantime, Dale Walton, one of the officers who had resigned, formed a small but militant splinter group in the northeastern Mississippi community of Tulepo, called the Knights of the Green Forest (KGF).
  When Walton “changed his attitude toward the Bureau,” however, FBI agents created and mailed 20 copies of a purported UKA proclamation that implied that KGF leader Dale Walton was an informant.  The proclamation ordered UKA members not to associate with Walton, and urged them to inflict "whatever harassment is deemed necessary to stop [KGF members] from calling themselves Klansmen."
  COINTELPRO operations, then, had aggravated tensions, produced a breakaway faction, and effectively reduced UKA activity.
  By November 1967, the UKA would retain only 500 members in Mississippi.
  
In February 1968, FBI agents managed to raise suspicions amongst UKA members that a particularly effective Province Titan, who had retained the largest number of Klansmen in Mississippi, had been informing to the FBI.  Since this Klansman had "boasted of violence and furnished only miscellaneous information to the FBI," agents instructed their informants to spread rumors that he "must be receiving outside income."  Once suspicious Klansmen set up a surveillance operation, one agent simply walked up to the officer in question and "exhibited a friendly gesture."  Convinced that their leader was informing to the FBI, his associates made plans to "dispose" of him.  As early as 1967, almost half of the units in this officer’s Province had joined other Klan organizations or gone dormant, but now suspicion and dissention reached such a point that Klansmen began planning "revengeful acts."
 

COINTELPRO after 1968: The Vitiation of Klans and Ideological Shifts among ex-Klansmen.

Between March and October 1967, a number of trials related to the Dahmer and Neshoba murders broke up the White Knights.  Never again, would it function as an effective, statewide organization.
  In October, state and local authorities arrested two striking woodworkers, charging them with the August shotgun slaying of a security guard at the labor-troubled Masonite Plant in Laurel.
  In November, the Memphis Commercial Appeal estimated that due to infighting, the White Knights had lost forty percent of its membership over the last six months.  Only 700 Klansmen remained in Mississippi.  Two hundred of these belonged to the White Knights.
  By 1968, a total of less than 500 Klansmen remained in Mississippi, about fifty of them hard-core members.
  By early 1968 then, COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE was well on the way toward destroying Mississippi’s Klan organizations.  The FBI informant network threatened to paralyze Klan operations.  

Nevertheless, terrorism had not ceased.  In Meridian, five black churches and a parsonage had been burned during 1967, and there had been a shooting attack on the home of a Head Start program teacher.  Members of the militantly anti-Semitic National States Rights Party were prime suspects in the FBI investigation.  In March, someone had bombed a real estate company that had been selling houses to blacks in previously all white neighborhoods.  In August, an all white jury acquitted White Knights Klansmen Danny Joe Hawkins.  Charges were dropped against J. L. Harper in a trial arising from that case.  Six bombings were committed in Mississippi that Fall.  In November, someone bombed a Laurel parsonage whose minister was a leader in the NAACP.  

Moreover, despite the October convictions, Bowers and the six other defendants in the Neshoba case remained free on appeal.  Already enamored of Nazi iconography and racialist theories of Jewish-Communist conspiracy, Bowers now delved further into the eschatology of Christian Identity theology.
  Identity hermeneutics, which demonize Jews as satanic offspring, and in some variations, mobilize the elect to battle them, were providing inspiration to a growing number of racist-right activists at this time.
  An offshoot of British Israelism, Identity was brought into racist-right politics by Gerald L. K. Smith in the 1940s, and popularized by his California based associate Wesley Swift.  Swift's protégés included Conrad Lynch, who along with National States Rights Party activist J. B. Stoner made a career out of racial agitation during the desegregation crises of the 1960s.
  

Unbeknownst to the FBI, Bowers had teamed up with a militant racist named Thomas Tarrants during summer 1967.  Tarrants had led violent demonstrations against integration at his Mobile High school in 1963.  Responsible also, for a series of shootings into black-owned homes back in 1964, Tarrants was another Swift protégé.   Mobile Alabama National States Rights Party director Robert M. Smith and veteran anti-Semitic politician John Crommelin also influenced him. In teaming up with Tarrants, then, Bowers was also embracing Christian Identity.
  The National States Rights Party, correspondingly, began publishing articles on FBI “persecution” of the White Knights.

Evidently financing himself through a series of armed robberies, Tommy Tarrants joined a small terrorist cell, and proceeded to carry out a series of bombings with Danny Joe Hawkins.  The bombing of Jackson’s Beth Israel synagogue in September 1967 resulted in a full-scale investigation involving the FBI and State and City police.  Bureau agents suspected Hawkins, as well as his father, with whom they soon had an armed confrontation, resulting in their arrest on charges of assaulting federal officers.  FBI informants in the Knights, however, could provide no intelligence about the secretive cell.  To harass and unnerve all known White Knights, the FBI placed them under tight surveillance and interviewed them at their places of employment.  Agents threatened Klansmen that they were investigating their personal and business affairs.  On October 6, Tarrants bombed the house of a Dean at Tougaloo College.  In November, members of the cell bombed the houses of two civil rights leaders and a local Rabbi.  On December 21, eight days before his sentencing in the Neshoba case, Bowers was charged with possession of an illegal machine gun.  A Collins Mississippi night marshal had pulled Tarrants and Bowers over while en route to shooting up the home of a black man who had fired on a police officer some days earlier.  

Bowers was acquitted, having testified that he did not know the weapon was in the car.  Tarrants, however, skipped the trial for machine gun possession and went underground, finding refuge among followers of Wesley Swift.  From a Franklin North Carolina hideaway, provided by a local Identity group, Tarrants made forays into Mississippi for meetings with Bowers and, focusing on Meridian, more attacks.  On May 29, Tarrants and Hawkins blew up the Beth Israel synagogue in Meridian. The Anti Defamation League and local Jews raised $30,000, after FBI Special Agent Roy Moore suggested that large payments to informants might help to solve the bombings.  Informant payments from the fund, in combination with strong-arming by local police, finally allowed the investigators to penetrate the cell.  Chief Gunn’s anti-Klan ‘black squad,’ set off small explosions near Klansmen’s houses and shot into their homes.  Alton Wayne Roberts, free on bail for the 1964 Neshoba murders, and his brother Raymond, Chair of the local National States Rights Party chapter, turned informant after Meridian police fired into Raymond's house.
  

Meridian Police Chief C. L. Gunn called the perpetrators “animals” and threatened “if we catch them in the act we will apprehend them and shoot to kill if required.”

One police detective later stated:

One of the informants believed we were going to kill him.  We helped him believe it.  We acted like we were going to do it.  .  .  we harass 'em all, that's our job. . .  They're in constant fear we got somebody set up now.  We keep 'em scared to death.

On June 29, 1968, police captured Thomas Tarrants in an operation that Los Angeles Times reporter Jack Nelson called an "ambush."
  Police severely wounded Tarrants and killed cell member Kathy Ainsworth, an Identity activist who had replaced Danny Joe Hawkins at the last minute.
  Raymond Roberts urged Hawkins to avenge the killing, but Hawkins’ arrest on a bank robbery charge, along with the Meridian police operation, had broken the cell, and Bowers halted the violence for a time.
  

The National States Rights Party’s Thunderbolt denounced the Meridian operation as one in a series of FBI “frame-ups.”
  Party activists elevated Kathy Ainsworth to martyrdom.
  In the late 1970s, former National Socialist campus activist David Duke, who would create the largest Nazi-Klan of the period, would also eulogize her.
  These expressions of support were significant, because they illustrate coalitions that were developing among racist rights activists of various ideological stripes at the time.  The NSRP, along with members of National Socialist groups such as David Duke, represented a vanguard.  They formulated much of the ideological cross-pollination that would characterize the white power movement during the 1970s, fusing Christian Patriot ideology and KKK iconography with conspiratorial anti-Semitism, Holocaust denial, anti-Federal law enforcement rhetoric and Christian Identity theology.

In November 1968, the family of Ben Chester White, killed by members of the White Knights in June 1966, won a one million-dollar civil damage suit against three Klansmen and the White Knights organization.
  Thomas Tarrants was sentenced to thirty years in State Prison that same month.  Six more convictions were obtained in the Dahmer case that year.
  The NSRP denounced “pimps” who testified at the trials and accused the FBI of jury tampering.
  Even the UKA decried the "frame-up" activities of "FBI pimp" Delmar Dennis.
  The White Knights went into rapid decline during 1969-1970, as did the UKA.  The NSRP sent speakers into Mississippi to try and recruit new members.  Hosted by a well-known local Klan member, the speakers managed to draw 70 people to a February 1, 1970 meeting in Jackson.  The FBI alerted the Jackson police, who arranged to have the city building inspector search for code violations at the meeting site.  Agents also wrote and sent a letter from “one of the silent majority” to the Jackson Daily News, protesting violations of the building code by “radicals” and “rabble-rousers.”  Public NSRP meetings ceased, and NSRP activity was restricted to meetings of 4-6 former Klansmen, in private homes.
  

When Sam Bowers entered prison for the Neshoba civil-rights conviction in April 1970, die hard White Knights went underground.  Although 26 Mississippi school districts desegregated for the first time that September, there was no Klan left to engage in violence.  The White Knights of the Ku Klux Klan were vitiated.  FBI informants even ceased reporting on the activities of Klansmen such as Byron De La Beckwith, who continued to elude conviction for the killing of Medgar Evers.
  In the 1970s, according to Klan experts Michael and Judy Ann Newton, no large KKK groups were revived in Mississippi, although Bowers did revive a "small hard core unit" of the Knights upon his parole in 1976.
  The other members of the cell, Thomas Tarrants and Danny Joe Hawkins traveled very different paths after 1968.  Their subsequent biographies illustrate the two opposite directions that Mississippi’s white supremacists would take after the destruction of the Knights.  After his July 23, 1969 escape from prison and a recapture facilitated by a FBI informant, Tarrants underwent a religious conversion, renounced racism and wrote an account of his bombing campaign in which he personally absolved the FBI of entrapment.
  Danny Joe Hawkins, who had been indicted for the bombing along with Tarrants in 1968, merged his publishing enterprises with those of the NSRP in 1970.
  Aside from a thirty month incarceration for a firearms violation that was handed down in 1974, Hawkins stayed out of trouble until 1981, when he was arrested along with David Duke's successor, Stephen Black and eight Nazi associates, for plotting to invade the Caribbean island of Dominica.
  

Byron De La Beckwith also associated with the NSRP, appearing as a featured speaker at the group’s 1973 national convention.
  The Party had just begun publishing increasing numbers of Identity tracts in its Thunderbolt newspaper.
  In October, New Orleans police, acting on a FBI tip, arrested Beckwith on federal firearm and explosive charges.  Beckwith was intercepted while en-route to bomb the home of ADL director Adolph Botnick, the Jewish activist who had helped to fund and plan the capture of Thomas Tarrants in Meridian five years earlier.  Former White Knights member Gordon Clark had informed Jackson field office FBI special agent Thompson Webb about the plot.
  Lauded as a “penniless victim of government illegality and crime” by David Duke, Beckwith was acquitted after his attorney convinced jurors that he had been framed.
  Other supporters included NSRP officer J. B. Stoner and Christian Identity preacher Richard Butler, leader of a Nazi group called the Aryan Nations.  Even the Mississippi UKA contributed $5000 to his defense.  Beckwith was finally convicted on state charges in 1977.  Two months before entering prison, he was ordained as a Christian Identity minister.


Between 1964 and 1971 then, a combination of successful prosecutions, combined with a disruptive campaign of covert action had both reduced vigilante violence and vitiated Mississippi’s Klan organizations.  Jackson FBI field office files had logged 175 acts of civil rights connected shootings, beatings, bombings and arsons in the last 7 months of 1964 and 274 acts in 1966.  By 1970, the numbers were down to 70.
  Hard core Klansmen who remained active, however, became more and more alienated.  The increased influence of Christian Identity theology and Nazi ideology in KKK circles, provided contact with other racist ideologies.
  In particular, the NSRP, which had consistently vilified the FBI as a tool of the Jews ever since an informant surfaced to testify during a 1958 bombing trial, had gained the ear of Mississippi's hard core.
  Other Mississippi Klansmen joined a Louisiana based Klan leader who attempted to organize a Minutemen-type paramilitary group.
  In late 1980, a Klan group known for its advocacy of paramilitary training attracted 500 to a march in Jackson, Mississippi. 
  The FBI, whom UKA Imperial Wizard Robert Shelton had seen as an ally, had become a primary enemy for white racists.
 

Questions regarding the relationship between Southern justice and vigilantism continue to haunt the history of the Deep South.  During the 1990’s, Mississippi began to look back at a number of unresolved vigilante killings from the civil rights era.  In 1994, Citizens’’ Council activist Byron De La Beckwith was finally convicted of the June 1963 murder of NAACP field representative Medgar Evers.
  Yet again, the testimony of former FBI informant Delmar Dennis was central to the prosecution’s case.
  In January 1998, the Jackson Clarion-Ledger reported that Billy Roy Pitts had never served a day of his life sentence for the killing of Vernon Dahmer.  Dahmer surrendered and helped Mississippi to convict Sam Bowers of ordering the 1966 firebomb attack that killed the NAACP activist.  Another former Klansman who had provided information to the FBI also turned State’s evidence in this case.
  

Adams County prosecutors reopened the 1964 Moore-Dee double murder case in 1999, and the FBI opened the case in 2000, but prosecution seems doubtful unless more evidence emerges.
  In November 1999, a Humphries County jury convicted four white men of manslaughter in the racially motivated killing of sharecropper Rainey Pool in April 1970.
  Federal prosecutors reopened the 1966 Ben Chester White murder case against Ernest Avants in late 1999, after ABC News reported the fact that killing took place in a National Forest.  Citing jurisdiction on federal property, the FBI arrested Avants on June 7, 2001.
  He was tried and, on the basis of James Jones’ 1967 confession, as well as the testimony of former FBI agent Allan Kornblum found guilty in March 2003.  Since he showed no remorse, District Court Judge William Babour sentenced Avants a life without parole.
  Natchez police reopened the 1967 Wharlest Jackson car-bomb murder case in 2000, but authorities came to believe that all suspects in the case are now dead.  At this writing, federal and state investigators have re-opened 18 civil rights era murder cases, including the Neshoba county murder case that had galvanized the Federal effort against the Klan in 1964.
  

The fact that some of these cases took so long to prosecute, whereas others have yet to be resolved, raises questions about the extent to which Michal Belknap's thesis applies throughout Mississippi.  Journalist Jack Nelson, for one, has taken the view that as late as 1968, Klan violence aroused little action from local whites in Meridian.
  Violence may have been reduced, in part, because Mississippi prosecuted and convicted Klansmen in other cases.  COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE, however, was also instrumental in suppressing vigilantism, because it destroyed organized Klan groups.
  Kenneth O’Reilly may well be correct in asserting that in comparison, COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE was pursued with less vigor and was less devastating to its targets than COINTELPRO operations against the Black Panther Party, but this need not imply that the anti-Klan effort was a failure.  

Historians have just begun to write the history of the rise and fall of the KKK in the late twentieth century.
  A complete rendering will include not only an account of the role of KKK vigilantes in the southern white backlash against civil rights, but also an account of the FBI’s suppression of the Klans during the 1960s.  This article relates part of this story.  Inspired by the Michal Klarman’s provocative thesis, this article supplements his dialectic of backlash and response, by focusing on the issue of vigilante violence in Mississippi and the FBI’s response to it.  It expands upon Michal Belknap’s seemingly minor point that FBI intelligence and counterintelligence operations supplemented Southern efforts to suppress Ku Klux Klan activity.  It examines the anti-Klan operations from a different perspective than the comparative one that Kenneth O’Reilly introduced, placing it within the history of Klan organizing and vigilante violence in the American South.  It explains why Mississippi’s Klan organizations went into steep decline during the late 1960s.  It also raises questions about COINTELPRO’s influence on the subsequent development of racist-right ideology in the United States.  In so doing, it indicates that vigilante violence, as well as COINTELPRO’s role in repressing it, must be taken into account before historians can fully assess relationships between racial backlash, federal response, and social change in the American South during the 1960s.

Finally, COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE and other FBI covert operations are worth studying because they provide case studies for evaluating the efficacy of extralegal covert action techniques, undertaken in the interest of domestic security.  In Mississippi, such techniques, if somewhat controversial, proved very successful.  These questions are particularly important now, because the United States government is currently unshackling the intelligence community, so that it can engage in preventive operations against transnational terrorist cells.  At a time when the American people are re-evaluating how to preserve the delicate balance between the preservation of their liberties and their need for collective security, we ignore such questions at our own peril.
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